



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER
OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO DIRECTING ADULT AND SENIOR RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITIES (RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITIES FOR THE ELDERLY, ADULT RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES, AND RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITIES FOR THE CHRONICALLY ILL) TO LIMIT VISITORS AND OTHER NON-ESSENTIAL PERSONS CONSISTENT WITH CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES REGULATIONS AND TO PREPARE WRITTEN PROTOCOLS FOLLOW BEST PRACTICES REGARDING COVID-19, INCLUDING ~~RESTRICTIONS ON AND~~ SCREENING OF VISITORS AND OTHER PROTECTIONS FOR RESIDENTS, VISITORS, AND PERSONNEL

(PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY ORDER)

DATE OF ORDER: ~~September 4, 2020~~ March 10, 2021

Please read this Order carefully. Violation of or failure to comply with this Order is a misdemeanor punishable by fine, imprisonment, or both. (California Health and Safety Code § 120275, 120295, *et seq.*; Cal. Penal Code §§ 69, 148(a)(1); San Francisco Administrative Code §7.17(b))

~~Summary: On February 25, 2020, the Mayor of the City and County of San Francisco (the “City”) declared a state of emergency to prepare for coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”). On March 5, 2020 there was the first reported case of COVID-19 in the City. On March 16, 2020, the City and five other Bay Area counties and the City of Berkeley, working together, were the first in the State to implement shelter in place orders in a collective effort to reduce the impact of SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19. That virus is easily transmitted, especially indoors or in group settings, and the disease can be extremely serious. It can require long hospital stays, and in some instances cause long term health consequences or death. It can impact not only those who are older or have underlying health conditions and known to be at high risk, but also other people, regardless of age. And a major risk remains the spread of the virus that causes COVID-19 through asymptomatic and pre-symptomatic carriers, people who can spread the disease but do not even know they are infected and contagious. The spread of disease is a global pandemic causing untold societal, social, and economic harm.~~

Summary: On March 7, 2020, the City’s Health Officer issued Order No. C19-01, limiting visitors and non-essential personnel from Laguna Honda Hospital, one of the largest skilled nursing facilities in the country. On March 10, 2020, ~~Health Officer the first version of this~~ Order No. C19-03, was issued to extend similar restrictions and other safety measures to other



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09^{bc}

skilled nursing and residential facilities in the City. ~~Order No. C19-01 was expanded on March 11, 2020, to include the skilled nursing unit at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital and add the additional safety requirements. On March 18, 2020, the Health Officer issued Order No. C19-09, the prior version of this Order, extending similar restrictions and protections to Residential Care Facilities For The Elderly, Adult Residential Facilities, And Residential Care Facilities For The Chronically Ill in the City. Collectively, these orders served to protect residents and staff at residential living facilities in the City.~~

~~Some residents of community living facilities are being treated for health conditions that make them particularly vulnerable to suffering the most serious complications of COVID-19, including death. Community living settings also make it easier for the virus to spread. And medical personnel and other essential staff of hospitals and residential facilities are experiencing increased stress associated with providing excellent support during this public health emergency. It is critical to protect all these populations from avoidable exposure to the disease and other pathogens. At the same time, allowing visitation in such settings is also important to the health and well-being of residents, many of whom have gone without in-person visits for almost six months. The Health Officer and the Department of Public Health (“DPH”) have been reviewing the literature and data to help craft rules that will expand visitation in safer ways while also continuing to protect these populations.~~

~~Although our collective effort has had a positive impact on limiting the spread of the virus, key concerns remain. The number of infections and infection rate in the City remain high, and it is anticipated that infection rates will continue to increase as we enter the Fall (when the flu and colds could negatively impact health in these facilities) and other activities are further allowed under state and local orders. We are going to have to live with the threat of the virus for many months to come.~~

This Order expands visitation at the listed Residential Facilities, accomplishing the purpose of strengthening our community social distancing response, protecting medical resources and healthcare providers, and supporting the well-being of residents by allowing for indoor, in-person visits when they can be done safely. The Order gives such facilities flexibility to allow three new kinds indoor visits, but continues to strongly encourage other types of visitation~~-, including~~ outdoor visits (where resident and visitor are outside), vehicle-based visits (where the visitors remain in a vehicle), and facility window visits (where the resident remains in the building behind a window or door with a window). ~~This Order lists many requirements for allowing such visits~~This Order requires Residential Facilities to comply with California Department of Social Services (“CDSS”) Provider Information Notices (“PINs”) and other regulatory guidance regarding visitation, including but not limited to PIN 20-38-ASC and other guidance that is amended or revised in the future, as well as other protections listed in this Order and other orders of the Health Officer, including mandatory screening of visitors on the day of the visit, mandatory physical distancing, wearing a face covering as required by Health Officer Order No. ~~C19-12c, a prohibition on direct exchange of gifts or other items~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09bc

between the resident and visitors, a requirement that visits be scheduled in advance, restrictions on the length of visits and how many visitors are allowed, C19-12d (or future updates to that order), and other protections. Residential Facilities are given leeway to determine how to safely offer such visits and what kinds of visits they wish to offer, although they must contact the CDSS/Community Care Licensing Division of the California Department of Social Services (“CCL”) if they are unable to allow for some version of this expanded visitation.

This Order also makes other changes, cleaning up the prior requirements, adding a checklist of key visitation requirements, and requiring Residential Facilities to notify residents and authorized decision makers of these changes. This Order goes into effect at 9 a.m. on Saturday, September 5, 2020 becomes effective immediately upon issuance, revises and replaces the prior version (Order No. C19-09b) as of that time and date, and will remain in effect until extended, rescinded, superseded, or amended in writing by the Health Officer. Indoor visitation and other kinds of visitation not previously allowed under Order No. C19-09b are allowed once a Residential Facility complies with this Order’s requirements that it implement practices consistent with PIN 20-38-ASC and other CDSS visitation guidance.

Table of Contents:

1. Intent 4
2. General Requirements 4
3. Visitation Restrictions and Requirements 4
4. Allowed Visitation..... 11
5. COVID-19 Outbreak Restrictions and Other Limitations 12
6. Visitor Screening Procedures 13
7. Other COVID-19 Related Protocols..... 14
8. Face Coverings 14
9. Written COVID-19 Policies and/or Protocols 15
10. Staff Screening 15
11. Staff and Resident Testing..... 16
12. Non-Compliance..... 16
13. No Restriction on First Responders, Others 16
14. Definitions 16
15. List of Residential Facilities 18
16. Complaints..... 22
17. Continuing Severe Health and Safety Risk Posed by COVID-19..... 22



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09bc

18. Cases, Hospitalizations, and Deaths 23
19. Incorporation of State and Local Emergency Proclamations and State Health Orders 23
20. Effective Date 24
21. Reporting Violations..... 24
22. Copies and Notice..... 24
23. Severability 25
24. Interpretation 25

UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF CALIFORNIA HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE SECTIONS 101040, 101085, AND 120175, THE HEALTH OFFICER OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO (THE "HEALTH OFFICER") ORDERS:

- 1. Intent. The intent of this Order is to ensure that residents, staff, and Visitors at each long-term care residential facility listed in Section 2015 below (each a "Residential Facility") are protected from the spread of COVID-19 to the greatest extent possible given how vulnerable most residents at Residential Facilities in the City are to the disease and how easy it is to transmit the SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, especially from asymptomatic and pre-symptomatic people. This Order has been updated to allow broader visitation in compliance with CDSS regulations and regulatory guidance and in recognition that an increasing number of facility residents are fully vaccinated while also recognizing that unvaccinated residents at facilities and other vulnerable people in the community remain at risk. Other capitalized terms in this Order are defined throughout this Order.
2. General Requirements. While this Order is in effect, each Residential Facility and the staff of each such Residential Facility must comply with the visitation and COVID-19 related protocols listed by this Order as well as all other requirements of this Order. Visitors allowed under this Order must comply with all conditions of visitation imposed by this Order and by the Residential Facility at the time of entry or access to the Premises.
3. Visitation Restrictions and Requirements. Each Residential Facility and its staff must exclude from entry or access to its Premises any Visitors and Non-Essential Personnel including, but not limited to, visitors of residents at the Residential Facility except as allowed by this Order. Such Visitors and Non-Essential Personnel, including but not limited to authorized decision-makers and family members of residents, are ordered not to visit any Residential Facility except as allowed by this Order.
4. Types of Visitation. This Order restricts onsite visits between Residential Facility residents and Visitors. When Visitors seek to visit or contact a resident, the Residential Facility may allow visitation or contact only in the following ways. First,



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~each Residential Facility must make reasonable efforts to facilitate such contact by remote means such as telephone or videoconference that do not expose the resident to in-person contact. Second, each Residential Facility may authorize Allowed Visitation or Necessary Visitation on a case-by-case basis using the following protocols and other protocols regarding visitation it puts in place. Based on the context, a Residential Facility may refuse Allowed Visitation or Necessary Visitation when visits cannot occur in a manner that protects the health and welfare of the resident, the Visitor, and Residential Facility personnel. Each Residential Facility must monitor and ensure compliance with the requirements of this Order.~~

- ~~5. Allowed Visitation. The term “Allowed Visitation” means an in-person visit or contact that occurs between a resident and a Visitor under this Section 5. Allowed Visitation includes Facility Window Visits, Vehicle Visits, and Outdoor Visits, each as defined in this Section. Allowed Visitation, regardless of type, may only occur when the Residential Facility complies with all General Visitation Requirements listed below and also each requirement that applies to the specific type of visit. The checklist attached as Appendix A to this Order outlines most requirements for Allowed Visitation, but all requirements listed in the body of this Order must be met. Each Residential Facility should offer at least one type of Allowed Visitation except when that cannot be done safely and is encouraged to offer multiple types when staffing, resources, and the context permit doing so safely. If a facility is unable to offer any form of Allowed Visitation (other than temporarily based on short-term staffing or other conditions), it must notify CCL with an explanation of why it is unable to offer such visitation. Safety considerations for visits include not only COVID-19-related issues but more typical resident safety issues to ensure that risks to resident safety and well-being are minimized whenever possible.~~

~~In relation to implementation of Allowed Visitation, a Residential Facility may utilize trained volunteers to help meet the requirements of this Order so long as such volunteers, if onsite, are screened and meet other applicable requirements for staff. Examples of each type of Allowed Visitation are included below, and these are for illustration purposes and are not intended to show the only way that visitation may occur. This Order gives discretion to each Residential Facility to implement visitation in the ways that make the most sense and that protect resident, staff, and Visitor safety in the facility’s unique setting.~~

- ~~a. General Visitation Requirements. Each visit that occurs as an Allowed Visitation must comply with all of the following requirements (the “General Visitation Requirements”):~~
- ~~i. All visits are subject to the COVID-19 Prerequisites and Outbreak Restrictions listed in Section 6 below.~~
 - ~~ii. The visit must be supervised by Residential Facility staff or trained, screened volunteers for the duration of the visit.~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

- ~~iii. The visit must be planned in advance with the Residential Facility, and the Residential Facility may determine the visitation hours for each type of Allowed Visitation.~~
- ~~iv. The Residential Facility must designate an appropriate area for the type of Allowed Visitation. If the Residential Facility does not have an area that meets all requirements a specific type of Allowed Visitation, then the Residential Facility must not allow that type of Allowed Visitation to occur.~~
- ~~v. When a resident moves to or is transported to any area designated for Allowed Visitation, the resident must wear a Face Covering (as tolerated) for that journey. Except as listed below, a resident must wear a Face Covering (as tolerated) for the duration of the visit. Except as listed below, each Visitor must wear a Face Covering at all times. The rules regarding Face Coverings are listed below in Section 11.~~
- ~~vi. The Residential Facility must provide a telephone on request to any resident who remains inside the building during a visit so that Visitors can safely communicate with the resident, such as from afar or through closed windows.~~
- ~~vii. Sharing items between Visitors and residents, including gifts, flowers, reading materials, games, food, drinks, or utensils, during any visit is not allowed. A Residential Facility may adopt a protocol for allowing Visitors or others to send or deliver items or gifts to residents through Residential Facility staff so long as the protocol addresses how to ensure resident safety and minimize the risk of disease transmission through surface contact. Such a protocol may not allow Visitors to hand such items directly to a resident during a visit.~~
- ~~viii. Except as listed below, each Visitor and Visitor group must maintain at least six feet or more of physical distancing from all other groups and from all residents, including the resident they are visiting. No physical touching is allowed between a Visitor and any resident (meaning no hugging, hand shaking, kissing, etc.). The Residential Facility must post signs outlining these rules, clearly mark spaces to prevent Visitor groups from being too close to each other or to residents, limit crowding, and increase the distance between groups as needed to ensure that people can hear each other without having to shout to be heard. Sample signs will be available online soon at <https://www.sfdph.org/infectious-diseases-a-to-z/coronavirus-2019-novel-coronavirus/coronavirus-2019-information-for-healthcare-providers> (under the “Long Term Care and Senior Care” list).~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

- ~~ix. No more than four Visitors from the same household are allowed. If visitors are from different households, the group of Visitors must be limited to two people total (one per different household). Visitation group size can be limited by the Resident Facility based on facility space or other safety considerations to allow for proper distancing.~~
- ~~x. The Residential Facility must screen visitors for COVID-19 Symptoms (as defined in Section 18.e below) prior to the start of the visit as outlined in Section 7 below. For Outdoor Visits, temperature screening of each Visitor is also required.~~
- ~~xi. No visitor who answers a screening question indicating they have any of the COVID-19 Symptoms or who otherwise answers questions indicating that they have recent exposure to SARS-CoV-2 is allowed to visit.~~
- ~~xii. Except for Vehicle Visits with Closed Facility Windows, the Residential Facility must require Visitors to perform hand hygiene in accordance with guidelines from the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and provide supplies for hand hygiene such as hand sanitizer or a sink with soap, clean water, and towels as appropriate. More information on hand hygiene is available at <https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/when-how-handwashing.html> and <https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/hand-sanitizer-use.html>.~~
- ~~xiii. The Residential Facility must routinely clean and disinfect all frequently touched surfaces under the control of the Residential Facility in any area used for visits.~~
- ~~xiv. Each visit is limited to one hour, and a Residential Facility may impose shorter time limits if needed to accommodate residents while ensuring compliance with the requirements of this Order. A Residential Facility may also limit the number of visits per resident each week, month, or otherwise in order to ensure that all residents are able to have visitors in a fair and equitable manner and take into account the context of a given resident.~~
- ~~xv. A visit may be cancelled by the Residential Facility due to relevant considerations that impact Visitor, staff, or resident safety.~~
- ~~xvi. Whenever possible, visitation should take place without visitors walking through the interior of a Residential Facility. If visitors must travel through the interior of a Residential Facility, the facility should have them take the shortest route possible. By way of example, it is acceptable for Visitors to walk through a facility's lobby to get to an outdoor garden or courtyard where Outdoor Visitation occurs (so~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~long as travel through the building is not restricted at the time under Section 6 below).~~

~~xvii. Shouting, singing, or playing instruments that use the human breath (such as woodwind or brass instruments) is prohibited except when everyone is behind closed windows.~~

~~xviii. Except for Vehicle Visitation, visitation by children is left to the discretion of the Residential Facility. If children are allowed to visit, all Visitors who are two years old and older must wear a face covering, and children must be under supervision at all times. Also, screening for any COVID-19 Symptoms must take into account the different list of symptoms for youths under 18 years old (see Section 18.c below).~~

~~b. Facility Window Visit Requirements. The term “Facility Window Visit” refers a visit where the Visitor(s) are separated by a building window (or door with a window) from the resident. There are two types of Facility Window Visits: a Facility Window Visit with an Open Window, which is when the window separating the Visitor(s) and resident is open and the Visitor(s) are outdoors; and a Facility Window Visit with a Closed Window, which is when the window separating the Visitor(s) and the resident is closed so no airflow occurs between the two sides of the window. The following are examples of a Facility Window Visit with an Open Window: a resident in their room on the first floor with window open to a garden or walkway where the Visitors are located; a resident in part of a common area that has privacy and a window that opens out on a parking lot where the Visitors are located; and a resident in a recreation room that has a sliding glass door open to a patio that is accessible to the Visitors. The following are examples of a Facility Window Visit with a Closed Window: a resident in their room on the first floor behind a closed window talking by phone with Visitors who are outside on a walkway or in a garden; a resident in a part of the facility lobby that has large windows that do not open talking by phone with Visitors who are on the other side of the window and distant from other people entering the building; or a resident who is seated behind a door with a large window that is closed talking by phone with Visitors who are standing in a parking lot on the other side of the door.~~

~~Facility Window Visits may only occur when all listed requirements for that type of visit are met. Those requirements are:~~

~~i. For Facility Window Visits with an Open Window:~~

~~1. The Visitor(s) must be separated by a building window (or door with a window) from the resident.~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~2. The window separating the Visitor(s) and the resident may be open and the Visitor(s) are outdoors.~~

~~3. The resident must stay at least 3 feet back from the window.~~

~~4. Each Visitor must stay at least 3 feet back from the window.~~

~~ii. For Facility Window Visit with a Closed Window:~~

~~1. The Visitor(s) must be separated by a building window (or door with a window) from the resident.~~

~~2. All windows and doors separating the Visitor(s) and the resident are closed so that no airflow occurs between the two sides of the window.~~

~~3. Each Visitor is not required to maintain at least six feet or more of physical distancing the resident they are visiting because the windows and doors are closed.~~

~~4. Each Visitor is prohibited from walking through any building of the Residential Facility.~~

~~e. Vehicle Visit Requirements. The term “Vehicle Visit” refers a visit where the Visitor(s) remain in a vehicle and the resident is at least six feet away from the vehicle. There are two types of Vehicle Visits: a Vehicle Visit with Open Windows, which is when any windows separating the Visitor(s) and resident are open; and a Vehicle Visit with Closed Facility Windows, which is when the resident is behind a closed window in the Residential Facility so no airflow occurs between the two sides of the window. The following are examples of a Vehicle Visit with Open Windows: a resident in a wheelchair is positioned on a walkway near a parked car talking through open car windows with Visitors who are seated in the car; and a resident sitting outside on the patio of their room talking with Visitors through open car windows of a car parked nearby. The following are examples of a Vehicle Visit with Closed Facility Windows: a resident standing at a window that does not open in the building lobby talking by phone with Visitors parked just outside in the parking lot; and a resident sitting at a closed window in their room talking by phone with Visitors parked on the street outside the window.~~

~~Vehicle Visits may only occur when all listed requirements for that type of visit are met. Those requirements are:~~

~~i. For Vehicle Visits with Open Windows:~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

- ~~1. The Visitor(s) must remain in a vehicle and the resident must be at least six feet away from any open window in the vehicle. The resident may be outdoors or indoors at the Residential Facility.~~
 - ~~2. The window separating the Visitor(s) and the resident may be open and the vehicle remains outdoors.~~
 - ~~3. If there is a pull-in area for vehicle visits, the visits must be scheduled to prevent crowding and keep at least six feet between residents and at least six feet between vehicles.~~
 - ~~4. To reduce air flow to the resident from the vehicle, the vehicle window that is closest to the resident should remain closed, if possible.~~
- ~~ii. For Vehicle Visits with Closed Facility Windows (which is similar to a Facility Window Visit with a Closed Window):~~
- ~~1. The Visitor(s) must remain in a vehicle and the resident must be indoors at the Residential Facility and at least six feet away from the vehicle.~~
 - ~~2. The Residential Facility windows separating the Visitor(s) and the resident must be closed so that no airflow occurs between the two sides of the window. The vehicle windows may be open or closed.~~
 - ~~3. If the vehicle is parked or stopped in an area where other people will be passing, each Visitor in the vehicle must wear a Face Covering. If the vehicle windows remain closed at all times, a Face Covering is not required for Visitors in the vehicle.~~
 - ~~4. Each Visitor is prohibited from walking through any building of the Residential Facility.~~
- ~~d. Outdoor Visit Requirements. The term "Outdoor Visit" refers to a visit where the Visitor(s) and the resident are all in an outdoor setting. The following are examples of an Outdoor Visit: a resident who is brought to a garden in front of the facility where lines are marked to help keep them at least six feet away from Visitors who are outside in the same garden; a resident who is sitting in their wheelchair on a sidewalk where the resident is ten feet away from Visitors who are also on the sidewalk and behind an optional Plexiglas barrier that the facility has put up to help protect the resident; a resident who is seated in an interior courtyard that is open to the air where the Visitor is brought through the building lobby and then directed to remain at~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~least six feet away during the outdoor visit; and a resident who is in the parking lot under a canopy tent that only has one wall for protection from the sun or other weather where the Visitor is also under the canopy at least six feet distant.~~

~~Outdoor Visits may only occur when all listed requirements are met. Those requirements are:~~

~~i. The visit must occur outdoors. If the weather does not permit the Outdoor Visit to occur, the Residential Facility may postpone or cancel the visit or provide one of the other forms of visitation allowed by this Order in line with all listed requirements.~~

~~ii. In addition to symptom screening and asking other screening questions of all Visitors participating in an Outdoor Visit as required in Section 7 below, a Residential Facility must conduct temperature screening of all Visitors participating in an Outdoor Visit.~~

~~iii. If a Residential Facility uses a tent or other temporary structure in relation to an Outdoor Visit, the Residential Facility must follow the requirements of Health Officer Order No. C19-07h, including as that order is revised in the future. That order currently notes that operations under a tent, canopy, or other sun or weather shelter may occur only as long as no more than one side is of the structure is closed, allowing sufficient outdoor air movement.~~

~~4. COVID-19 Prerequisites and Outbreak Restrictions. For Allowed Visitation, there are certain prerequisites that apply to different kinds of visits, and if there is a COVID-19 outbreak at the Residential Facility, there are certain visitation Allowed Visitation. The term "Allowed Visitation" means an in-person visit or contact that occurs between a resident and a Visitor under this Section 4. This Order requires each Residential Facility to follow all visitation-related guidance issued by CDSS, including but not limited to CDSS's PIN 20-38-ASC and related guidance, including as that PIN, other PINs, and other related guidance are updated in the future. CDSS's PIN 20-38-ASC, and any update to that guidance, is incorporated into this Order by this reference. Note that PIN 20-38-ASC addresses the concept of necessary visitation, such as end-of-life/compassionate care visits and legally-necessary visits, as well as more routine visitation. Non-Essential Personnel should generally be excluded from visitation whenever possible except as allowed by CDSS guidelines (including but not limited to PIN 20-38-ASC and any future versions of that guidance).~~

~~The Residential Facility must have and implement policies and/or protocols consistent with PIN 20-38-ASC and other CDSS visitation guidance in order to expand visitation, and once the Residential Facility does so, the Residential Facility may immediately expand Allowed Visitation consistent with PIN 20-38-ASC. Until then, the Residential~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

Facility must continue to comply with the Allowed Visitation requirements of the prior version of this Order, Health Officer Order No. C19-09b (issued September 4, 2020). Visitation may only occur as allowed by this Section.

The Residential Facility should address all requirements of CDSS PIN 20-38-ASC (or future versions of that guidance) and any related guidance and should, at a minimum, address issues including: COVID-19 screening of Visitors; use of Face Coverings by Visitors; alternatives to indoor visits (such as facility window visits, vehicle visits, outdoor visits, and telephone/video visits); COVID-19 infection prevention protocols for all types of visits; visitation during any COVID-19 outbreak at the Residential Facility; privacy protections for residents during visits; non-adherence by Visitors to visitation rules; indoor communal spaces versus in-room visitation; and required visitation. In order to assist with this process, the Residential Facility is referred to guidance issued by the San Francisco Department of Public Health regarding congregate living facility visitation available online at www.sfcdep.org/residentialcareproviders. This online guidance, which is updated from time to time, includes a checklist to help the Residential Facility address the key requirements of PIN 20-38-ASC.

~~6.5. COVID-19 Outbreak Restrictions and Other Limitations. Due to the rapidly-evolving nature of the pandemic, including as conditions may change in the future, each Residential Facility must immediately comply with any requirements or restrictions that apply until the communicated by the Health Officer or the Health Officer's designee, including in relation to any COVID-19 outbreak is resolved. Note that anyat the Residential Facility that has multiple units. In the event of an COVID-19 outbreak among residents or floors may staff, the Residential Facility must immediately contact the Department of Public Health Outbreak Management Group ("OMG") for permission to treat each unit or floor as a separate Residential Facility for purposes of this Section 6. OMG may be reached by phone by calling 415-554-2830, selecting Option 1, and then following the prompts for Senior Care Facilities.~~

~~a. Prerequisites. For Facility Window Visits with an Open Window, Vehicle Visits with Open Windows, and Outdoor Visits:~~

- ~~i. No visit is allowed for any resident who has any of the COVID-19 Symptoms, is in isolation or quarantine related to COVID-19, or has a COVID-19 diagnosis; and~~
- ~~ii. There must be an absence of new COVID-19 cases or SARS-CoV-2 infections in the Residential Facility for the preceding 14 days (including residents and staff) and the Residential Facility must not be in the surveillance period for an active outbreak.~~

~~If these prerequisites are not met, then the types of visits listed in this subsection a. may not occur until the prerequisites are met.~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~As noted above, any Residential Facility that has multiple units or floors may contact OMG for permission to treat each unit or floor as a separate Residential Facility for purposes of this Section 6.~~

~~b. Visit-Related Outbreak Restrictions. If there is reason to believe that the Residential Facility has had a new COVID-19 case or SARS-CoV-2 infection, the following restrictions apply:~~

~~i. For Facility Window Visits with an Open Window, Vehicle Visits with Open Windows, and Outdoor Visits, Allowed Visitation must be postponed until the requirements of Section 6.a above are met. Residential Facilities with multiple units or floors may contact OMG to determine if the Residential Facility can safely cohort to allow visitation for residents in non-outbreak units.~~

~~ii. For Facility Window Visits with a Closed Window and Vehicle Visits with Closed Facility Windows, visitation may continue but each Visitor is prohibited from walking through any building of the Residential Facility.~~

Any Residential Facility that has questions about what constitutes an outbreak or other questions about this section may contact OMG.

~~7. Necessary Visitation. The term “Necessary Visitation” means a visit or contact that is based on urgent health, legal, or other issues that cannot wait and that needs to occur in addition to Allowed Visitation. If the needs and context of a particular request for Necessary Visitation justifies visitation in a manner other than Allowed Visitation, then the Residential Facility Administrator may arrange for Necessary Visitation of a resident. For purposes of this Order, the Residential Facility Administrator may act through a designee. The decision about whether the needs and context justify Necessary Visitation is left to the determination of the Residential Facility Administrator, who must make the decision based on this Order and the COVID-19 Guidance. Also, any Necessary Visitation allowed under this Section must be done subject to requirements of the COVID-19 Guidance and as otherwise deemed appropriate by the Residential Facility. All Visitors allowed under this Section 6 must comply with subsections v, vii, x, xii, xiii, and xvii of the General Visitation Requirements above.~~

~~8.6. Visitor Screening Procedures. Each Residential Facility must use the following screening procedures for all Visitors. The Residential Facility must screen each Visitor on the day of the visit before the visit in a manner consistent with current [CDSS and DPH](#) guidance (which takes into account guidance from [CCLCDSS and California Department of Public Health](#) and the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”)) regarding screening. At a minimum, the screening must address current or recent: actual or suspected COVID-19 diagnosis; actual or suspected SARS-CoV-2~~



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

infection; actual or suspected close contact with someone with the virus; and COVID-19 Symptoms (listed below in Section ~~18.e14.d~~) consistent with SARS-CoV-2 infection, taking into account the age of the person being screened given different criteria for people under 18 years old. If a Visitor answers affirmatively to any screening question, they should, if appropriate, be referred for testing and directed to the DPH website with information about Health Officer directives on isolation and quarantine and explanatory material in multiple languages, available online at

~~<https://www.sfdcp.org/covid19>, www.sfdcp.org/i&q.~~ Screening may be done by phone, verbally in person ensuring at least six feet of physical distance, or using other methods such as text or email. It is up to the Residential Facility, at the discretion of the Administrator or designee, to decide which method(s) for screening work best for the context. A Residential Facility may use temperature checks consistent with DPH guidelines, ~~and it must conduct temperature checks for Outdoor Visitation.~~

9.7. Other COVID-19 Related Protocols. The following sections list additional COVID-19 related protocols aimed at protecting residents, staff, and Visitors.

~~10. Non-Essential Resident Movement is Discouraged. To the maximum extent possible, each Residential Facility must discourage Non-Essential Resident Movement, as defined in Section 18.e below, onto, off of, and within Residential Facility Premises where feasible. Whenever a Residential Facility resident leaves the Residential Facility Premises, the resident is ordered to comply with Social Distancing Requirements listed in Section 8.0 of the Stay-Safer-At-Home Order. At the time this Order was issued, the Social Distancing Requirements are:~~

- ~~a. Maintaining at least six-foot social distancing from individuals who are not part of the same Household;~~
- ~~b. Frequently washing hands with soap and water for at least 20 seconds, or using hand sanitizer that is recognized by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention as effective in combatting COVID-19;~~
- ~~c. Covering coughs and sneezes with a tissue or fabric or, if not possible, into the sleeve or elbow (but not into hands);~~
- ~~d. Wearing a face covering when out in public, consistent with the orders or guidance of the Health Officer; and~~
- ~~e. Avoiding all social interaction outside the Household when sick with a fever, cough, or other COVID-19 symptoms.~~

11.8. Face Coverings. In general, all residents, staff, and Visitors must comply with Order No. C19-12~~ed~~ of the Health Officer, issued on ~~July~~December 22, 2020 (the “Face Covering Order”), including as that order is revised in the future. Residents, staff, and Visitors must also comply with any other requirements of the Residential Facility



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

regarding wearing a mask or Face Covering or other Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”). In addition to the exceptions to wearing a Face Covering listed in the Face Covering Order, a Face Covering is not required for any resident who, on account of dementia, grave mental illness, fear of/concern for suffocation, inability to remove a Face Covering, inability to call for help, physician order, or other circumstance should not wear a Face Covering. The Residential Facility must provide a Face Covering or other mask to any resident or Visitor on request. The Face Covering Order and this Order allow Residential Facilities to require and provide coverings that offer added protection such as an isolation mask or ~~personal protective equipment (“PPE”), PPE,~~ as appropriate in the circumstances.

~~12.9. **Written COVID-19 Plan Requirement. Each Residential Facility must update and continue to implement the written plan that was originally required by the prior version of this Order (the “COVID-19 Plan”).** Written COVID-19 Policies and/or Protocols. Each Residential Facility should maintain written policies and/or protocols that address visitation, infection control, screening, vaccination, and other relevant rules and guidelines regarding COVID-19, including but not limited to those required by CDSS and other DPH and San Francisco Health Officer orders, directives, and guidelines. This includes compliance with the Stay-Safer-at-Home ordered by the Health Officer (Health Officer Order No. C19-07t, including as that order is revised in the future, available online at www.sfdph.org/healthorders). This Order does not require a Residential Facility to create any new documentation if it already has written policies or other written guidance that address the requirements for the COVID-19 Plan. The Residential Facility’s existing COVID-19 Plan may be used while a new version is prepared, and the COVID-19 Plan should be updated no later than September 15, 2020. The plan must comply with applicable guidance from DPH regarding the screening of patients, personnel, and visitors for signs of COVID-19 or other illnesses. The COVID-19 Plan must also address other applicable COVID-19-related guidance, including steps to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission by authorized Visitors and Non-Essential Persons such as through hand washing, use of Face Coverings, imposition of the Social Distancing Requirements listed in Section 8.0 of the Stay-Safe-At-Home Order, and limiting the duration of visits, as appropriate.~~ protocols, or other written guidance that address COVID-19. Nothing in this Order prohibits a Residential Facility from taking steps more protective against transmission of COVID-19 than guidance provided by the CDC, ~~CCL,~~ and DPH in its plan. ~~Each Residential Facility must update its COVID-19 Plan when appropriate under new COVID-19 recommendations or requirements issued by DPH or as otherwise required by law. See the COVID-19 Guidance (discussed in Section 15 below) for more information about the COVID-19 Plan.~~ CDSS, and DPH in its policies and/or protocols.

~~13.10. Staff Screening.~~ Each Residential ~~Facility’s COVID-19 Plan~~ Facility must ~~also include a requirement~~ ensure that any employee or other staff member who is sick or does not pass the required screening must be immediately sent home and not return to work until they can do so safely under State of California or DPH guidance or when authorized to return by a physician. If a Residential Facility is unable to immediately



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

send home any such employee or staff member, the Residential Facility must (1) prevent that staff member from engaging in any resident care or contact (except in an emergency when the Residential Facility is doing whatever it can to protect residents) and (2) immediately notify its respective licensing entity and seek guidance from that entity.

~~14.11.~~ Staff and Resident Testing. If a Residential Facility learns that any resident or staff member who currently resides or works at, or within the prior two weeks resided or worked at, the Residential Facility tests or has tested positive for COVID-19, then the Residential Facility must immediately (within 1 hour) notify the Department of Public Health and meet any other applicable notification requirements. All facilities are also required to continue complying with CDSS testing guidance, and by way of example, PIN 20-38-ASC currently requires the facility to conduct surveillance testing of 25 percent of all staff every 7 days.

~~COVID-19 Guidance. Attached to this Order as Appendix B is written guidance to Residential Facilities (“COVID-19 Guidance”) issued by the Health Officer. The Health Officer or designee may revise the COVID-19 Guidance in writing from time to time. Each Residential Facility must follow the COVID-19 Guidance.~~

~~15.12.~~ Non-Compliance. If any Visitor or Non-Essential Person refuses to comply with this Order, then the Residential Facility may contact the San Francisco Police Department to request assistance in enforcing this Order. The Residential Facility shall take whatever steps are possible within the bounds of the law to protect residents from any such Visitor or person who refuses to comply with this Order. For example, a Residential Facility should contact facility security and ask the unauthorized visitor or person to comply with conditions of visitation imposed by the Residential Facility. Even if a Visitor or Non-Essential Person otherwise complies with the facility’s visitation protocols as outlined in this paragraph, they are still in violation of this Order if their presence is not ~~an Allowed Visitation or Necessary Visitation~~ allowed under this Order.

~~16.13.~~ No Restriction on First Responders, Others. This Order does not restrict first responder access to Residential Facility Premises during an emergency. Further, this Order does not restrict local, state, or federal officers, investigators, or medical or law enforcement personnel from carrying out their lawful duties on Residential Facility Premises. Persons other than first responders allowed access under this paragraph must comply with all conditions of visitation imposed by the Residential Facility at the time of entry or access to the Residential Facility Premises when feasible.

~~17.14.~~ Definitions: For the purposes of this Order, the following initially capitalized terms have the meanings given below:

- a. “Visitors” are people who come onsite to a Residential Facility to meet with a resident who are not staff of the facility. This term includes family members ~~and~~ and loved ones, and friends of residents ~~and, as well as~~ those who have legal authority to make healthcare or other legal decisions for a resident. The Ombudsperson is



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

an authorized visitor and is not included in this term, but the Ombudsperson must still follow all conditions of visitation imposed by the Residential Facility ~~and should also try to avoid non-essential visits.~~

~~b.~~ “Non-Essential Personnel” are employees, contractors, volunteers, or others who provide services onsite at a Residential Facility but who do not perform treatment, maintenance, support, or administrative tasks deemed essential to the healthcare mission of the Residential Facility. ~~Refer to the COVID-19 Guidance for more information. Nothing in this Order prohibits a resident from seeking care at any Residential Facility or at any clinic or other location providing health care or other services on the Residential Facility’s Premises.~~

~~e.b.~~ ~~“Non-Essential Resident Movement” means travel off, onto, or within the Residential Facility’s Premises by a resident other than for specific treatment or pressing legal purposes as described more fully in the COVID-19 Guidance.~~

~~d.c.~~ “Premises” includes without limitation the buildings, grounds, facilities, driveways, parking areas, and public spaces within the legal boundaries of each Residential Facility listed in Section ~~2015~~ below.

~~e.~~ ~~“COVID-19 Symptom” means a symptom consistent with SARS-CoV-2 infection. At the time this Order is issued, that list includes for individuals 18 years or older any of the following symptoms which is not explained by another condition or diagnosis: temperature greater than 100.4F (38.0C); cough; sore throat; shortness of breath; chills; headache; body aches; fatigue; loss of smell or taste; diarrhea; runny nose; nasal congestion; or other symptoms if there is associated clinical concern for COVID-19. For those younger than 18 years, “COVID-19 Symptom” means any of the following symptoms which is not explained by another condition or diagnosis: temperature greater than 100.4F (38.0C); sore throat; new uncontrolled cough that causes difficulty breathing (for youth with chronic allergic/asthmatic cough, a change in their cough from baseline); diarrhea, vomiting, or abdominal pain; new onset of severe headache, especially with a fever; or other symptoms if there is associated clinical concern for COVID-19.~~

~~d.~~ ~~Licensing Entity Notification. Each Residential Facility must within 12 hours of receipt of this Order notify its respective licensing entity (whether the California Department of Public Health or otherwise) of the existence of this Order regarding the Residential Facility. And as noted in Section 5 above, if a facility is unable to offer any form of Allowed Visitation (other than temporarily based on short-term staffing or other conditions), it must notify CCL with an explanation of why it is unable to offer such visitation.~~ “COVID-19 Symptom” means a symptom consistent with SARS-CoV-2



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09bc

infection. A list of current COVID-19 Symptoms can be found online at www.sfcdep.org/covid19symptoms.

18.15. List of Residential Facilities. This Order applies to each facility listed below, as well as to any new facility of that type licensed by CDSS as such, even if not listed (each a "Residential Facility");

*Note - To the extent that a facility is listed in strikethrough text below, the Health Officer is informed that it no longer provides residential care of the type listed. Those facilities are no longer subject to this Order to the extent that they no longer provide residential care as licensed by CDSS. If they are providing such care, they are subject to this Order.

Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly:

Table with 3 columns: Facility Name, Facility Address, Zip. Lists various residential care facilities such as 9TH AVENUE COMMUNITY CARE HOME, ALMA VIA OF SAN FRANCISCO, etc.



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

HAYES VALLEY CARE	601 LAGUNA ST	94102
IDA'S REST HOME, LLC	612 39TH AVENUE	94121
JANET'S RESIDENTIAL FACILITY FOR THE ELDERLY	2970 25TH AVENUE	94132
JULIE'S CARE HOME	1363 - 5TH AVENUE	94122
KIMOCHI HOME	1531 SUTTER STREET	94109
KOKORO ASSISTED LIVING	1881 BUSH ST	94109
LADY OF PERPETUAL HELP RFE #1	476 FAIR OAKS STREET	94110
LINA'S REST HOME I	393 SILVER AVENUE	94112
LYNNE & ROY M. FRANK RESIDENCES	ONE AVALON AVENUE	94112
MARIAN'S CARE HOME I	1450 - 24TH AVENUE	94122
MERCED GIRARD RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITY	129 GIRARD STREET	94134
MERCED RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITY	259 BROAD STREET	94112
MERCED THREE RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITY	1420 HAMPSHIRE STREET	94110
MERCED TWO RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITY	257 BROAD STREET	94112
PARKSIDE RETIREMENT HOME	2447 - 19TH AVENUE	94116
PORTOLA GARDENS	350 UNIVERSITY ST	94134
PROVIDENCE PLACE	2456 GEARY BLVD.	94115
PSALM RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	565 GROVE ST	94102
QUALITY CARE HOMES, LLC 1	801 38TH AVENUE	94121
QUALITY CARE HOMES, LLC 2	757 - 44TH AVENUE	94121
QUALITY CARE HOMES, LLC 3	2277 - 33RD AVENUE	94116
QUALITY CARE HOMES, LLC 4	475 EUCALYPTUS DRIVE	94132
RHODA GOLDMAN PLAZA	2180 POST STREET	94115
RJ STARLIGHT HOME CORPORATION	2680 BRYANT STREET	94110
SAGEBROOK SENIOR LIVING AT SAN FRANCISCO	2750 GEARY BLVD	94118
SAN FRANCISCO RCFE	887 POTRERO AVENUE	94110
SANTIAGO HOME CARE	452 HAROLD STREET	94112
SFAL - THE AVENUE	1035 VAN NESS AVENUE	94109
STELLA'S CARE HOME I	616 39TH AVENUE	94121
ST. ANNE'S HOME FOR THE AGED	300 LAKE STREET	94118



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09^{bc}

ST. FRANCIS MANOR I	1450 PORTOLA DRIVE	94127
SUNSET CARE HOME	1434 7TH AVENUE	94122
SUNSET CARE HOME 2	1367 39TH AVENUE	94122
SUNSET GARDENS	1338 27TH AVENUE	94122
SUTRO HEIGHTS RESIDENTIAL CARE, LLC	659 45TH AVENUE	94121
TARAVAL RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	3721 TARAVAL STREET	94116
TIFFANY'S CARE HOME, INC	50 TIFFANY AVENUE	94110
TLC HOME CARE II	110 VALE AVENUE	94132
VICTORIAN MANOR	1444 MCALLISTER STREET	94115
VILLAGE AT HAYES VALLEY-GROVE BUILDING, THE	601 LAGUNA STREET	94102
VILLAGE AT HAYES VALLEY-LAGUNA BUILDING, THE	624 LAGUNA ST	94102

Adult Residential Facilities:

<u>Facility Name</u>	<u>Facility Address</u>	<u>Zip</u>
AMB RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	219 LONDON STREET	94112
ARDOIN, DAVID RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	126 MONTANA STREET	94112
AURORA'S RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	1823 SILLIMAN STREET	94134
AURORA'S RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	1821 SILLIMAN STREET	94134
AURORA'S RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	1827 SILLIMAN STREET	94134
BERNADETTE SMITH'S BOARD & CARE HOME #2	1648 REVERE STREET	94124
BMB SUNSHINE RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITY	1356 FULTON STREET	94117
BRODERICK STREET ADULT RESIDENTIAL FACILITY	1421 BRODERICK STREET	94115
CROSSROADS RESIDENTIAL CARE	9 CRYSTAL STREET	94112
CRYSTAL HOME CARE	1 CRYSTAL STREET	94112
DAVID ARDOIN 2	1582 VAN DYKE AVENUE	94124
DIAMOND LODGE	20 ARLINGTON STREET	94131
EMERALDGREEN'S ARF	851 HEAD STREET	94123



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

FAIRBANKS RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	46 WILLIAMS AVENUE	94124
FLOR'S RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	301 EDINBURGH STREET	94112
FRANCIS RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	45 FRANCIS	94112
HOLLY PARK FAMILY HOME, INC.	321 HOLLY PARK CIRCLE	94110
J & L ADULT RESIDENTIAL FACILITY	1596 ALEMANY BLVD	94112
KONANIA HOUSE	226 FARALLONES STREET	94112
LIFE CONNECTION - PORTOLA HOME	1340 PORTOLA DRIVE	94127
MAE BEA ANDREWS BOARDING CARE	1691 NEWCOMB AVE	94124
MAE BEA ANDREWS BOARDING CARE	1739 NEWCOMB AVE	94124
MERIT RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME INC.	162 MONTANA ST.	94112
MYNARR HOME	90 LIEBIG STREET	94112
NANIOLA RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME I	41 PRETOR WAY	94112
NANIOLA RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME III	506 PANORAMA DRIVE	94131
NANIOLA RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME IV	798-A HURON AVENUE	94112
ODYSSEY HOUSE	484 OAK STREET	94102
PARKVIEW INN #1	969 BUENA VISTA WEST	94117
PARKVIEW INN #2	935 BUENA VISTA WEST	94117
POMEROY RECREATION & REHABILITATION CENTER	2626 FULTON ST	94118
POMEROY RECREATION & REHABILITATION CENTER	207 SKYLINE BLVD	94132
POMEROY RECREATION & REHABILITATION CENTER 2	2750 FULTON ST	94118
RUSTAN ADULT RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME	460 UTAH STREET	94110
SAN FRANCISCO ADULT RESIDENTIAL FACILITY	887 POTRERO AVE.	94110
SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL FACILITY	627 CAMBRIDGE STREET	94134
SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL FACILITY (A)	1226 GOETTINGEN STREET	94134
SF WOMEN'S REHAB FOUNDATION DBA STEPPING STONE	255 10TH AVE	94118
SOUTH VAN NESS MANOR	822 SOUTH VAN NESS	94110



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

SUNBODY HAVEN	198 PEABODY	94134
SUNBODY HAVEN 2	1125 GENEVA STREET	94112
UNITED FAMILY CARE HOME	165 GUERRERO STREET	94103
VERNON MANOR	425 VERNON STREET	94132

Residential Facilities for the Chronically Ill:

<u>Facility Name</u>	<u>Facility Address</u>	<u>Zip</u>
ASSISTED CARE	129 HYDE STREET	94102
CALIFORNIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CTR COMING HOME HOSPICE	115 DIAMOND STREET	94114
LELAND AVENUE PROJECT	141 LELAND AVENUE	94134
MAITRI RESIDENTIAL CARE (FPLWA)	401 DUBOCE AVENUE	94117
PETER CLAVER COMMUNITY	1340 GOLDEN GATE AVENUE	94115
RICHARD M. COHEN RESIDENCE	220 DOLORES STREET	94103

Continuing Care Retirement Communities:

<u>Facility Name</u>	<u>Facility Address</u>	<u>Zip</u>
<u>HERITAGE ON THE MARINA</u>	<u>3400 LAGUNA ST.</u>	<u>94123</u>
<u>SAN FRANCISCO TOWERS</u>	<u>1661 PINE STREET</u>	<u>94109</u>
<u>SEQUOIAS SAN FRANCISCO (THE)</u>	<u>1400 GEARY BLVD</u>	<u>94109</u>

~~19.16.~~ Complaints. A Residential Facility resident or the resident’s authorized lawful representative may contact a representative of the Residential Facility to seek clarification of any part of this Order by contacting the Administrator of the facility. If a resident or the resident’s authorized lawful representative objects to the appropriateness of the limitation of access contained in this Order, the resident or lawful authorized representative must first raise their concern with the Residential Facility at issue. The Residential Facility is ordered to respond to the concern within 2 business days.

~~20.17.~~ Continuing Severe Health and Safety Risk Posed by COVID-19. This Order is issued based on the need for continued protection of all Residential Facility Visitors, residents, and staff in the City. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a public health emergency throughout the City. **Residents**Unvaccinated residents at Residential



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

Facilities are among the most vulnerable and most likely to face serious outcomes, including death, from infection by SARS-CoV-2, and there will continue to be residents who do not agree to vaccination, who are unable to be vaccinated, or whose vaccination will take time to become fully effective after arriving at the facility. There are currently only limited treatments ~~and not approved vaccine~~ for COVID-19, and ~~there is although there are now three vaccines approved for emergency use in the United States, there remains~~ a high risk of infection from asymptomatic and pre-symptomatic people who have the virus. Due to the length of time during which people with the virus can unknowingly infect others and emerging variants, it is imperative that all appropriate steps be taken to protect unvaccinated residents and staff ~~who deal with residents from infection. Limiting. Safely allowing~~ visitors and requiring the other safety protections included in this Order will thereby slow virus transmission as much as possible in order to protect the most vulnerable, prevent infections and serious illness and death, and prevent the healthcare system from being overwhelmed.

~~21.~~18. Cases, Hospitalizations, and Deaths. As of ~~September 1, 2020~~March 7, 2021, there ~~are 9,755~~have been at least 34,422 confirmed cases of ~~COVID-19~~SARS-CoV-2 infection in the City (up from 37 on March 16, 2020, the day before the first shelter-in-place order in the City went into effect) as well as at least ~~84440~~ deaths (up from 1 death on March 17, 2020). This information, as well as information regarding hospitalizations and hospital capacity, is regularly updated on the San Francisco Department of Public Health's website at ~~https://data.sfgov.org/stories/s/fjki-2fab~~https://data.sfgov.org/stories/s/fjki-2fab.

~~22.~~19. Incorporation of State and Local Emergency Proclamations and State Health Orders.

- a. State and Local Emergency Proclamations. This Order is issued in accordance with, and incorporates by reference, the March 4, 2020 Proclamation of a State of Emergency issued by Governor Gavin Newsom, the March 12, 2020 Executive Order (Executive Order N-25-20) issued by Governor Gavin Newsom, the February 25, 2020 Proclamation by the Mayor Declaring the Existence of a Local Emergency issued by Mayor London Breed, as supplemented on March 11, 2020, the March 6, 2020 Declaration of Local Health Emergency Regarding Novel Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) issued by the Health Officer, and guidance issued by the California Department of Public Health, as each of them have been and may be supplemented.
- b. State Health Orders. This Order is also issued in light of the March 19, 2020 Order of the State Public Health Officer ~~and~~ the “State Shelter Blueprint for a Safer Economy (the “State Order”)”, which set baseline statewide restrictions on non-residential Business activities, effective until further notice, the Governor's March 19, 2020 Executive Order N-33-20 directing California residents to follow the State ~~Shelter~~ Order, and the July 13, 2020 ~~Order~~, August 28, 2020, November 19, 2020, and December 3, 2020 Orders of the State Public Health



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

Officer. The May 4, 2020 Executive Order issued by Governor Newsom and May 7, 2020 Order of the State Public Health Officer permit certain Businesses to reopen if a local health officer believes the conditions in that jurisdictions warrant it, but expressly acknowledge the authority of local health officers to establish and implement public health measures within their respective jurisdictions that are more restrictive than those implemented by the State Public Health Officer. Also on ~~June 18~~November 16, 2020, the State Department of Public Health issued updated guidance for the use of ~~face coverings~~Face Coverings, requiring all people in the State to wear ~~face coverings in certain high-risk situations~~Face Coverings when outside the home, subject to limited exceptions.

c. Federal Executive Orders. This Order is also issued in light of federal orders, including the January 20, 2021 Executive Order on Protecting the Federal Workforce and Requiring Mask-Wearing, which requires all individuals in Federal buildings and on Federal land to wear Face Coverings, maintain physical distance, and adhere to other public health measures.

~~23-20.~~ Effective Date. This Order becomes effective ~~at 9 a.m. on Saturday, September 5, 2020, immediately upon issuance~~ and will continue to be in effect until it is extended, rescinded, superseded, or amended in writing by the Health Officer. ~~Effective as of 9 a.m. on September 5, 2020~~Also effective upon issuance, this Order revises and replaces Health Officer Order No. C19-09~~b~~, issued ~~March 18~~September 4, 2020.

~~24-21.~~ Reporting Violations. Any person who believes this Order is being violated may contact 3-1-1 or go to ~~www.sf.gov/report-health-order-violation~~www.sf.gov/report-health-order-violation to provide information about the alleged violation.

~~25-22.~~ Copies and Notice. Each Residential Facility must promptly provide notice of this Order as follows: (1) by posting this Order on the Residential Facility website (if any); (2) by posting this Order at all entrances to the Residential Facility; (3) by providing a summary of this Order to each Residential Facility resident, indicating how the resident can obtain a full copy; (4) by providing a summary of this Order to any authorized decision maker for each Residential Facility resident if not the resident, including any conservator, indicating how the decision maker can obtain a full copy; (5) by providing this Order to the Residential Facility Ombudsperson (if any); and (6) by giving a copy, on request, to anyone who ~~visits the Residential Facility or who~~ contacts the Residential Facility ~~seeking to visit~~.

The City must promptly provide copies of this Order as follows: (1) by posting on the Department of Public Health website at ~~www.sfdph.org/healthorders~~www.sfdph.org/healthorders; (2) by posting at City Hall, located at 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Pl., San Francisco, CA 94102; and (3) by providing to any member of the public requesting a copy.



ORDER OF THE HEALTH OFFICER No. C19-09~~bc~~

~~26.~~23. Severability. If any provision of this Order or its application to any person or circumstance is held to be invalid, then the remainder of the Order, including the application of such part or provision to other people or circumstances, shall not be affected and shall continue in full force and effect. To this end, the provisions of this Order are severable.

~~27.~~24. Interpretation. All provisions of this Order must be interpreted to effectuate the intent of this Order as described in Section 1 above. The summary at the beginning of this Order as well as the headings and subheadings of sections contained in this Order are for convenience only and may not be used to interpret this Order; in the event of any inconsistency between the summary, headings, or subheadings and the text of this Order, the text will control. Certain initially capitalized terms used in this Order have the meanings given them in this Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED:

~~Tomás J. Aragón, MD, DrPH, _____ Date: September 4, 2020~~

Susan Philip, MD, MPH, _____ Dated: March 10, 2021
Acting Health Officer of the
City and County of San Francisco